Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-13-2014

Adams v. Kimberley One Townhouse Owner's Ass'n., Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42192

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a case of first impression in Idaho. It arises from a declaratory judgment action challenging the validity of CC&R's changed by a majority of home owners, which placed substantial and additional burdens upon the Appellant's real property. The CC&R's in effect at the time of Appellant's purchase of the property, and a subsequent 2007 Amendment, specifically allowed for the unrestricted rental of Appellant's townhome.

In 2013, the HOA changed the CC&R's to, significantly and arbitrarily, restrict Appellant's ability to rent his property. The change was solely targeted at the Appellant, and added burdens and restrictions to Appellant's ability to rent his property. Appellant sought a declaration from the District Court that the Second Amended CC&R's were void abinitio, and of no force and effect as exceeding the authority for amendment of the CC&R's.

B. Course of Proceedings and Statement of Facts

Appellant is the owner of 1275 East Kimberley Lane, Boise, ID 83712, which is more particularly described as Lot 1 of Kimberley One Townhouses Subdivision, according to the official plat thereof, filed in Book 49 of Plats at Page(s) 3991, 3992 and 3993, Official Records of Ada County, Idaho ("1275"). R. Vol. I, p. 5, ¶1.

Kimberley One Townhouse Owner's Association, Inc., was formed in 1980. On August 12, 1980, the developer of the townhomes adopted and recorded a "Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions and Easements for Kimberley One Townhouses," ("1980 CC&R's). R. Vol. I, p. 6, ¶4.

On September 11, 2007, Kimberley One Townhouse Owner's Association, Inc., caused to be recorded the Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for Kimberley One Townhouses ("2007 Amendment") R. Vol. I, pp. 15-25.

Appellant spends 8 months of the year in China working as an analyst. After his purchase of 1275, Appellant desired to use 1275 as a summer vacation home. To offset the cost of maintenance, Appellant rents 1275 as a vacation rental. R. Vol. I, p. 311, ¶4. The rental of 1275, as well as the rental of any other unit in the Association, is an explicitly allowed use in both the 1980 CC&R's and the 2007 Amendment, under Article 3, Section 1, "Use." R. Vol. I, p. 12; R. Vol. I, p. 17. The Appellant relied upon the stated unlimited rental provisions contained in the 1980 CC&R's at the time of his purchase. R. Vol. I, p. 311, ¶3.

The action by the HOA to change the CC&R's was precipitated when other owners purportedly had issues related to rental tenants of Appellant residing in 1275. R. Vol. I, p. 312, ¶6. Instead of approaching the Appellant to discuss the issues, the HOA Board ("Board") held a meeting on October 10 and voted to enter into discussions with their attorney on amending the CC&R's. R. Vol. I, p. 312, ¶6; R. Vol. I, pp. 216-218.

The Respondents confirmed at the annual meeting held January 29, 2013, that the CC&R's would be amended to specifically restrict the ability of Appellant to lease 1275. R. Vol. I, pp. 344-345.

The Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions & Easements for Kimberley One Townhouses ("Second Amended CC&R's") were recorded with the Ada County Recorder on March 11, 2013. R. Vol. I, pp. 232-262. The Second Amended

CC&R's, under Article 3, Section 1, "Use," changed the formerly allowable use to newly require a written lease, reviewed and approved in advance in writing by the Board. In addition, any advertising for rental must be approved by the Board. Further, the written lease must be for not less than a 6 month minimum term, and contact information for the tenant(s) shall be regularly updated with the Board. R. Vol. I, pp. 235-236.

As further evidence that the Second Amended CC&R's were solely amended to affect the Appellant, the CC&R's allow the Board to grant on an arbitrary, case-by-case, written variance from the additional burdens "for reasons of hardship or for such other reasons as the Board may deem compelling." *Id.* There are no objective standards for the exercise of the Board's discretion in the event of such a "hardship or other reasons" application. R. Vol. I, p. 338 (Deposition of David Ricks, pp. 74, L. 17 – pp. 75, L. 14).

In furtherance of the Second Amended CC&R's, on August 20, 2013, the Board adopted "House Rules" which, among other things, imposed fees for unauthorized rental activities and unauthorized advertising of a unit. These House Rules, imposed a daily penalty of \$300.00 for "unauthorized rental activity" and a \$100 penalty for "unauthorized advertising of a unit." R. Vol. I, pp. 265-267.

On February 25, 2014, Respondents moved for Summary Judgment. R. Vol. I, pp. 108-110. Respondents argued that so long as the amendments to the CC&R's are validly enacted and are unambiguous, that Appellant's property is subject to each of the successive CC&R's, no matter how restrictive as to the use of Appellant's real property. R. Vol. I, pp. 285-301.

Respondents also argued that the "House Rules" authorizing the daily penalty was a "lawful exercise of the Board's and the Association's authority." *Id.* at 298-299.

On April 10, 2014, Appellant filed its Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis that the Second Amended CC&R's restrict the Appellant's free use of his land as allowed under the 1980 CC&R's and the 2007 Amendment. R. Vol. I., pp. 309-310. Appellant also moved for Summary Judgment on the basis that the CC&R's were not "amended" but were "changed," and that the changed CC&R's allowed for discriminatory application by the Board. *Id*.

The Court held its hearing on both Appellant's and Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment on April 24, 2014. R. Vol. I, pp. 309-310. The Court granted Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, denied Appellant's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment and entered Judgment against Appellant. M.S.J. Tr. pp. 33-43.

On April 28, 2014, Judgment was entered in favor of Respondents. R. Vol. I, p. 393-395. On May 5, 2014, the Respondents filed a Memorandum of Costs. R. Vol. I, pp. 399-401. On May 20, 2014, Appellant filed a Motion to Disallow Costs. R. Vol. I, pp. 413-414. On June 4, 2014, Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal. R. Vol. I, pp. 421-423.

On July 9, 2014, the Court entered an Amended Judgment awarding Respondents all attorneys fees. R. Vol. I, pp. 476-477.

On July 31, 2014, Appellant filed its Amended Notice of Appeal. R. Vol. I, pp. 482-484.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

Appellant Adams presents the following issues on appeal:

- A. The District Court Erred by Failing to Determine the Validity of the Second Amended CC&R's.
 - 1. The District Court Erred by Failing to Determine the Original Intent of the Bargain Contained in the Original CC&R's.
 - 2. The District Court Failed to Determine the Enforceable Rights Promised to the Appellant in the CC&R's as of the Appellant's Purchase of the Real Property.
- B. The District Court Erred by Liberally Construing the CC&R's in Favor of the HOA.
 - 1. The District Court Erred by Re-writing the Agreement Contained in the CC&R's to Allow "Change."
 - 2. The District Court Erred by Failing to Apply the Plain Language Ordinary Meaning of "Amend."
 - 3. The District Court Erred by Declaring "Amend" to Have Identical Meaning to "Change."
- C. The District Court Erred by Failing to Declare that Actions by the HOA Allowed for Arbitrary and Discriminatory Enforcement of the CC&R's.
- D. The District Court Erred in Awarding Respondents' Attorneys' Fees and Costs.

III. ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL

Adams requests an award of attorney's fees on appeal pursuant to I.A.R. 41(a), Idaho Code sections 12-120(3) and Idaho Code section 12-121.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

In an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the standard of review is the same as the standard used by the district court in ruling on the motion for summary judgment. *East Lizard Butte Water Corp. v. Howell*, 122 Idaho 679, 781, 837 P.2d 805, 807 (1992). All disputed facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. *Bonz v. Sudweeks*, 119 Idaho 539, 541, 808 P.2d 876, 878 (1991).

Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled a judgment as a matter of law." Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(c). "The fact that the parties have filed cross-motions for summary judgment does not change these standards." *Bear Island Water Ass'n, Inc. v. Brown*, 125 Idaho 717, 874 P.2d 528 (1994).

B. The District Court Erred by Failing to Determine the Validity of the Second Amended CC&R's

1. The District Court Erred By Failing to Determine the Original Intent of the Bargain Contained in the Original CC&R's.

It was undisputed below, and remains undisputed here, that Appellant relied upon the covenants contained in the CC&R's at time of purchase. "A covenant is a duty under the contract, the breach of which gives a right to enforce the contract." *Weisel v. Beaver Springs Owners Ass'n, Inc.*, 152 Idaho 519, 528, 272 P.3d 491, 500 (2012).

Consistent with Idaho's adopted definition: "The word covenant means a binding agreement or compact benefitting both covenanting parties. See generally Black's 369; The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 432 (3rd ed.1992) [hereinafter "Heritage"]; Random House Webster's College Dictionary 314 (1991) [hereinafter "Webster's"]. A covenant represents a meeting of the minds and results in a relationship that is not subject to overreaching by one party or sweeping subsequent change." Armstrong v. Ledges Homeowners Ass'n, Inc., 360 N.C. 547, 554, 633 S.E.2d 78, 84-85 (2006).

Here the covenant allowing "rental" is a real covenant, running with the land. "Covenants accompanying the purchase of real property are contracts which create private incorporeal rights, meaning non-possessory rights held by the seller, a third-party, or a group of people, to use or limit the use of the purchased property." *Armstrong v. Ledges Homeowners Ass'n, Inc.*, 360 N.C. 547, 554, 633 S.E.2d 78, 85 (2006). *See also, Karner v. Roy White Flowers, Inc.*, 351 N.C. 433, 436, 527 S.E.2d 40, 42 (2000) (stating that covenants create incorporeal rights).

These fundamental principles are precisely consistent with the principles adopted in Idaho law. See, Weisel v. Beaver Springs Owners Ass'n, Inc., 152 Idaho 519, 528, 272 P.3d 491, 500 (2012).

Idaho has adopted the fundamental principles which guide the Court here. When interpreting such covenants, the Court generally applies the same rules of construction as are applied to any contract or covenant. *Nordstrom v. Guindon*, 135 Idaho 343, 345, 17 P.3d 287, 290 (2000) (internal citations omitted). The Court must first determine the intent of the contracting parties at the time the contract was entered. *Opportunity, L.L.C. v. Ossewarde*, 136

Idaho 602, 607, 38 P.3d 1258, 1263 (2002). Second, in determining the intent of the parties, this Court must view the contract as a whole. *Daugharty v. Post Falls Highway Dist.*, 134 Idaho 731, 735, 9 P.3d 534, 538 (2000). After the Court determines the intent of the parties, the court "should seek to give effect to the intention of the parties." *Id.*

Here, the District Court erred by failing to engage in any of the foregoing analysis. The transcript of the District Court's decision reflects the short shrift given to any analysis.

The District Court erred by failing to give any considered analysis to the original intent of the covenant of the right to the use of Appellant's real property as an unrestricted rental, as expressly provided in the CC&R's in existence at the time of Appellant's purchase. This error mandates reversal.

2. The District Court Failed to Determine the Enforceable Rights Promised to the Appellant in the CC&R's as of the Appellant's Purchase of the Real Property.

Other Courts have similarly adopted the principles adopted in Idaho in examining the rights of the Appellant. The North Carolina Supreme Court stated in *Armstrong v. Ledges Homeowner's Ass'n, Inc.*,

Because covenants originate in contract, the primary purpose of a court when interpreting a covenant is to give effect to the *original* intent of the parties; however, covenants are strictly construed in favor of the *free use of land* whenever strict construction does not contradict the plain and obvious purpose of the contracting parties. *Long v. Branham*, 271 N.C. 264, 268, 156 S.E.2d 235, 238 (1967) ("[T]he fundamental rule is that the intention of the parties governs" construction of real covenants.). *But see Wise*, 357 N.C. at 404, 584 S.E.2d at 737 (When a covenant infringes on common law property rights, " '[a]ny doubt or ambiguity will be resolved against the validity of the restriction.' " (quoting *Cummings*, 273 N.C. at 32, 159 S.E.2d at 517)); *J.T. Hobby & Son, Inc.*, 302 N.C. at 71, 274 S.E.2d at 179 ("The rule of strict construction is grounded in sound

considerations of public policy: It is in the best interests of society that the free and unrestricted use and enjoyment of land be encouraged to its fullest extent.")

360 N.C. 547, 555-56, 633 S.E.2d 78, 85 (2006).

The fundamental purpose of this analysis is a determination of the enforceable right promised to the Appellant at the time of purchase.

The District Court erred by failing to give any consideration to the bargained for and enforceable right of the Appellant. Here, the fundamental contractually enforceable "real covenant" was, and remains, the unrestricted "rental" of Appellant's real property. There can be no contrary conclusion. The District Court neither considered, nor applied these principles of law in its decision.

C. The District Court Erred by Liberally Construing the CC&R's in Favor of the HOA.

1. The District Court Erred by Re-writing the Agreement Contained in the CC&R's to Allow "Change."

The slippery slope which the Respondent asked the District Court to adopt was that the CC&R's are subject to "substantial changes...when they are adopted through the amendment process." R. Vol. I, p. 367. The Respondent will ask this Court for the same liberal construction of the CC&R's.

The Idaho Supreme Court set forth the rules for the interpretation of restrictive covenants in *Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates, L.L.C.*, stating that "Idaho recognizes the validity of covenants that restrict the use of private property. *Nordstrom v. Guindon,* 135 Idaho 343, 345, 17 P.3d 287, 290 (2000) (citing *Brown v. Perkins,* 129 Idaho 189, 192, 923 P.2d 434, 437 (1996)). When interpreting such covenants, the Court generally applies the same rules of

construction as are applied to any contract or covenant. *Id.* However, because restrictive covenants are in derogation of the common law right to use land for all lawful purposes, the Court will not extend by implication any restriction not clearly expressed. *Post v. Murphy*, 125 Idaho 473, 475, 873 P.2d 118, 120 (1994) (citing *Thomas v. Campbell*, 107 Idaho 398, 404, 690 P.2d 333, 339 (1984)). Further, all doubts are to be resolved in favor of the free use of land. *Id.* " *Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates*, LLC., 140 Idaho 354, 363, 93 P.3d 685, 694 (2004).

The Respondent's asked, and in effect, the District Court chose to re-write the express language of the CC&R's to read: "This Declaration may be amended **and changed**" to add additional burdens to the land held by Owners.

The District Court neither had, nor does it have the roving power to re-write the language of the parties bargain. *Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates*, LLC., 140 Idaho 354, 93 P.3d 685 (citing *Smith v. Idaho State Univ. Fed. Credit Union*, 114 Idaho 680, 684, 760 P.2d 19, 23 (1988)).

Under the theory adopted by the District Court, the HOA may "amend" the CC&R's to deprive anyone, including the Appellant, of the benefit of his original bargain.

One might rhetorically ask: May the HOA "amend" the CC&R's to "change" Article 3, Section 1(a) of the Second Amended CC&R's from allowing "Rental Activity" to denying all "Rental Activity." Under the District Court's ruling, this substantial change would be perfectly permissible when adopted through the amendment process.

The slippery slope is this: Under the District Court's ruling, there is no protection for the interests of a minority of "one," from the power of those who run the association.

2. The District Court Erred by Failing to Apply the Plain Language Ordinary Meaning of "Amend."

The following analysis has never been addressed by the Court in Idaho, but has been followed by Court's across the land. The Respondents argued below that "amend" is synonymous with change. The District Court erred by adopting this proclamation as valid.

However, as shown below, in a survey of cases from across the United States, "amend," in the context of CC&R's, is not synonymous with "change" and does not allow homeowner's associations from using the amendment provision to add additional restrictions.

"Declarations of covenants that are intended to govern communities over long periods of time are necessarily unable to resolve every question or community concern that may arise during the term of years." *Armstrong v. Ledges Homeowners Ass'n, Inc.*, 360 N.C. 547, 557, 633 S.E.2d 78, 86 (2006).

"For this reason, most declarations contain specific provisions authorizing the homeowners' association to *amend* the covenants contained therein." *Id.* (emphasis added).

"The term *amend* means to improve, make right, remedy, correct an error, or repair. *See generally Black's* at 80; *Heritage* at 44; *Webster's* at 59. Amendment provisions are enforceable; however, such provisions give rise to a serious question about the permissible scope of amendment, which results from a conflict between the legitimate desire of a homeowners' association to respond to new and unanticipated circumstances and the need to protect minority or dissenting homeowners by preserving the original nature of their bargain." *Id.* (emphasis added).

"The law should facilitate the operation of common interest communities at the same time as it protects their long-term attractiveness by *protecting the legitimate expectations of their members.*" *Armstrong v. Ledges Homeowners Ass'n, Inc.*, supra, quoting 2 Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes § 6 Introductory Note at 71 (2000) (emphasis added).

The *Armstrong* Court stated: "We conclude that the disputed amendment is invalid and unenforceable. In so doing, we echo the rationale of the Supreme Court of Nebraska in *Boyles v. Hausmann*, 246 Neb. 181, 191, 517 N.W.2d 610, 617 (1994): "The law will not subject a minority of landowners to unlimited and unexpected restrictions on the use of their land merely because the covenant agreement permitted a majority to make changes in existing covenants." Here, petitioners purchased their lots without notice that they would be subjected to additional restrictions on use of the lots and responsible for additional affirmative monetary obligations imposed by a homeowners' association. This Court will not permit the Association to use the Declaration's amendment provision as a vehicle for imposing a new and different set of covenants, thereby substituting a new obligation for the original bargain of the covenanting parties." *Armstrong v. Ledges Homeowners Ass'n, Inc.*, 360 N.C. 547, 633 S.E.2d 78 (2006).

The 2 Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes §6 Introductory Note at 71 (2000) states: "The law of residential common-interest communities reflects these tensions between protecting freedom of contract, protecting private and public interests in security of the home both as a personal base and as a financial asset, and protecting the public interest in the ongoing financial stability of common-interest communities. It also reflects the tensions between protecting the democratic process at work in common- interest communities and *protecting the*

interests of individual community members from imposition by those who control the association. The law of residential common-interest communities reflects these tensions between protecting freedom of contract, protecting private and public interests in security of the home both as a personal base and as a financial asset." (Emphasis added).

Here the "change" authorized by the District Court radically changes the character of the right preserved to the Appellant by the contractual covenant which runs with the land. The District Court's failure to either consider or protect the bargained for interest of the Appellant is error requiring reversal.

3. The District Court Erred by Declaring "Amend" to Have Identical Meaning to "Change."

The "change" cannot rationally be described as the correction of an error, as there was none, nor does the District Court analyze, nor ever suggest, there was any error in the plain use of the term "rental" in the original CC&R's.

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