# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-18-2014

# Adams v. Kimberley One Townhouse Owner's Ass'n., Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42192

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

# IV. ARGUMENT

### A. IDAHO LAW PERMITS THE AMENDMENT OF CC&Rs.

The District Court found that the covenants were validly amended to restrict short-term rentals, that the Amendment was proper and enforceable, and plain on its face. **Transcript of Summary Judgment Hearing** ("SJ Transcript"), p. 36, Ll. 10-11 and p. 40, Ll. 14-17. Thus, Appellant was required to comply with the lease and advertising requirements. **SJ Transcript**, p. 40, Ll. 17-19. Appellant argues that the District Court misconstrued the word "amend" to allow changes in the rights or duties under a restrictive covenant, rather than limiting an "amendment" to the correction of an error.

The District Court's decision was correct. Appellant's argument is without legal basis and, in any event, been waived by Appellant's prior agreement to change the amending process.

#### 1. Idaho Law Concerning CC&Rs.

"Restrictive covenants, which restrict the uses to which a party may put his or her property, are valid and enforceable." *Brown v. Perkins*, 129 Idaho 189, 192, 923 P.2d 434, 437 (1996). *Accord Nordstrom v. Guindon*, 135 Idaho 343, 345, 17 P.3d 287, 289 (2000). The general rules of contract construction apply to covenants. *Best Hill Coalition v. Halko, LLC*, 144 Idaho 813, 817, 172 P.3d 1088, 1092 (2007). That is, the court must first determine if a covenant

is ambiguous. *Id.* "A covenant is ambiguous if it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation." *Id.* However, an ambiguity is not established merely because a party presents differing interpretations to the court. *Id.* "If a covenant is unambiguous, the court must apply its plain meaning as a matter of law." *Id.* If "a restrictive covenant has been determined to be ambiguous, the court must determine the intent of the parties at the time the instrument was drafted, gathered from the language used and the circumstances which existed at its formulation." *Thomas v. Campbell*, 107 Idaho 398, 690 P.2d 333 (1984). "[B]ecause restrictive covenants are in derogation of the common law right to use land for all lawful purposes, the Court will not extend by implication any restriction not clearly expressed." *Pinehaven Planning Bd. v. Brooks*, 138 Idaho 826, 829, 70 P.3d 664, 667 (2003).

CC&Rs may provide for a method for their amendment. Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates, LLC, 140 Idaho 354, 362, 93 P.3d 685, 693 (2004) (citing 20 Am.Jur.2d Covenants § 236 (1995)). See also Nordstrom, supra, 135 Idaho at 348 (upholding amendment to CC&Rs); Smith v. U.S.R.V. Properties, LC, 141 Idaho 795, 118 P.3d 127 (2005) (upholding amended version of CC&Rs over original version as to a height restriction); Best Hill Coalition v. Halko, LLC, supra, 144 Idaho 813, 172 P.3d 1088 (2007) (upholding amendment that added a density limitation).

The amendments to the CC&Rs at issue in this case restricted rentals to a six month term. The District Court ruled the language of the amendment was unambigious and, that the process utilized to adopt the amendment was appropriate. **SJ Transcript**, p. 39, L. 19 - p. 40, L. 19. That ruling is not challenged in appellant's opening brief. Any argument suggesting the method the Respondent utilized to amend the CC&Rs was legally flawed, or that the language of the amendment is ambiguous is, at this point, waived. <u>See</u> **State v. Killinger**, 126 Idaho 737, 740, 890 P.2d 323, 326 (1995). **State v. Raudebaugh**, 124 Idaho 758, 763, 864 P.2d 596, 601 (1993); RESPONDENTS' BRIEF - 7

Thomas v. Medical Center Physicians, P.A., 138 Idaho 200, 205 – 206, 61 P.3d 551, 562-563 (2001). (The Court "will not consider arguments raised for the first time in the appellant's reply brief.") Accordingly, unless this Court concludes amendments to CC&Rs must be limited to edits or non-substantive corrections, the District Court's ruling should be affirmed.

# 2. There Is No Support Under Idaho Law For Restricting Amendments to Edits or Corrections.

Appellant recognizes that CC&Rs may be amended, but contends that an "amendment" cannot "change" the CC&Rs by adding additional restrictions. **Appellant's Brief,** pp. 10-11. Rather, Appellant argues that an "amendment" only allows for correction of an error or oversight in the drafting. <u>See</u> **Appellant's Brief,** pp. 10-20. This is not supported by Idaho law on CC&Rs, or by the cases cited by Appellant.

This Court has upheld significant and substantial amendments to CC&Rs in other cases. For instance, in *Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates, LLC*, 140 Idaho 354, 93 P.3d 685 (2004), the developer (Huckleberry) and the Shawvers entered into a contract for the sale of a building lot in a subdivision. The existing CC&Rs provided certain design restrictions on houses in the subdivision, including minimum building sizes. *Shawver*, 140 Idaho at 357-58. The CC&Rs also contained a provision allowing for the amendment of the CC&Rs upon written approval of "at least seventy-five percent of the lot owners." *Shawver*, 140 Idaho at 358. After purchase of their lot, the Shawvers submitted floor plans consistent with the building size restrictions. However, the plans were rejected by Huckleberry, and thereafter, the CC&Rs were amended to change the minimum building size requirements. *Id.* It was undisputed the Shawvers' proposed plans did not comply with the requirements of the amended CC&Rs. *Id.* 

On appeal, this Court rejected the Shawvers' argument that they were bound only by the original CC&Rs and not the amended version. *See Shawver*, 140 Idaho at 361-62. The Court explained:

This argument is inconsistent with the language of the Sale Agreement. Under the express terms of the Sale Agreement, the Shawvers agreed to purchase property governed by restrictive covenants, which could be amended by written consent of seventy-five percent of the existing lot owners. Such agreements are valid under the law. See 20 Am.Jur.2d Covenants § 236 (1995) ("[T]he restrictive agreements in a tract of land may provide for a method of abrogating or modifying such agreements, as, for example, by vote of a certain proportion of the property owners."). The Shawvers had no right under the Sale Agreement to override the amendment provision or to avoid compliance in the event amendments were properly adopted.

Id. The court further observed that "[t]o imply that Huckleberry was obligated to perform the Sale Agreement subject only to the original recorded CC&Rs would be contrary to the terms of the contract negotiated and executed by the parties." Shawver, 140 Idaho at 362. See also Shawver, 140 Idaho at 364-65 (holding that the Shawvers were further bound by a Second Amended CC&R¹ which had been properly adopted). The court also found that the trial court erred by not enforcing the amendment to the CC&Rs, because "[t]he district court's order eliminates the terms of the original recorded CC&Rs with respect to future amendments." Shawver, 140 Idaho at 365. Accord Hughes v. New Life Development Corp., 387 S.W.3d 453, 476 (Tenn. 2012) ("When a purchaser buys into such a community, the purchaser buys not only subject to the express covenants in the declarations, but also subject to the amendment provisions of the declaration.").

**RESPONDENTS' BRIEF - 9** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court's opinion noted that the first amendment to the CC&Rs were invalid because they had not been properly adopted by a 75% vote. However, a second amendment with the same restriction was adopted by the requisite vote and recorded after the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. *Shawver*, 140 Idaho at 364-65.

In Best Hill Coalition v. Halko, LLC, supra, 144 Idaho 813, 172 P.3d 1088 (2007), a developer who owned several lots in a subdivision notified the owners that, since it was not prohibited from subdividing lots by the CC&Rs, it planned on subdividing those lots to create a 35-lot planned unit development. Best Hill Coalition. 144 Idaho at 815. Certain members of the subdivision attempted to amend the CC&Rs to add a density restriction requiring at least 2 acres per lot. Best Hill Coalition, 144 Idaho at 816. However, they lacked sufficient votes. Id. The CC&Rs allowed the Homeowner's Association to recruit adjoining landowners to join the subdivision. Best Hill Coalition, 144 Idaho at 815. After convincing several adjacent landowners to join the subdivision, the Coalition had sufficient votes to amend the CC&Rs and did so. Best Hill Coalition, 144 Idaho at 816. The coalition then filed suit against the developer, in part, to enjoin the developer from any development of its property greater than the density allowed under the amendment. Id. Among other arguments, the developer "asserted that the density limitation was violative of public policy, apparently because restrictions on the use of private property are disfavored and because the restrictions here were partially imposed by new members to the subdivision." Best Hill Coalition, 144 Idaho at 818. On appeal, this Court rejected that argument, noting the developer had failed to point to any public policy or legal authority that would prohibit new members of a subdivision from voting on amendments to subdivision covenants. Id. The Court upheld the amendments and the injunction entered by the trial court prohibiting development of property in violation of the density limit.

*Pinehaven Planning Bd. v. Brooks, supra*, 138 Idaho 826, 70 P.3d 664 (2003), is also instructive because in that case, the Court rejected an attempt by a homeowners association to prohibit vacation rental of homes within the subdivision. The Court noted:

The central issue in this case is whether the Covenants prohibit the short-term rental of residential property. Three Covenants speak to the issue. The first, Section 10, provides "[n]o commercial or

industrial ventures or business of any type may be maintained or constructed" upon any residential lot. The second, Section 12, further provides "no more than one (1) single family dwelling may be constructed" upon any residential lot. A third Covenant, Section 27, provides for interpreting the meaning of certain terms in the document: "The Uniform Building Code shall be used to define any term not defined herein." Further, if a term is used that is not defined in the Covenants or the Uniform Building Code, "Webster's Dictionary shall be the source used for definition of terms."

Pinehaven Planning Bd., 138 Idaho at 827-28. The court found that there was no ambiguity, but that the CC&Rs did not prohibit short term rentals. In reaching its conclusion, the court observed that the first two provisions cited above were not implicated: the rented house was not commercial property but was a single family dwelling. Pinehaven Planning Bd., 138 Idaho at 829-30. Moreover, the UBC defined residential use to include "hotels, apartment houses, dwellings, and lodging houses." Pinehaven Planning Bd., 138 Idaho at 830. Thus, the plain language of the CC&R did not support the prohibition advanced by the homeowners association.

In short, the Idaho Supreme Court holds that a CC&R is a type of contract and is to be interpreted according to the principles of contract interpretation. The District Court understood this. *See* **SJ Transcript,** p. 34, Ll. 10-12. "Freedom of contract is a fundamental concept underlying the law of contracts and is an essential element of the free enterprise system." *Morrison v. Northwest Nazarene University,* 152 Idaho 660, 661, 273 P.3d 1253, 1254 (2012). From the cases cited above, the Supreme Court has allowed and approved significant changes to CC&Rs when they were accomplished through the amendment process provided in the CC&Rs and the provisions are clear and unambiguous. If a declaration contains an amendment provision, the purchaser buys his or her property subject to the possibility of a later amendment to the declarations.

### 3. Adams Property Was Subject to the 2013 Amendment.

When Adams purchased his property in 2003, it was subject to CC&Rs. **R. 116**; **R 6**, ¶ 4. As the District Court observed, "[i]t's clear that the original CC&R's ran with the property at issue and that when Mr. Adams purchased the property, he knew that such covenants existed." **SJ Transcript**, p. 35, Ll. 15-18. The original CC&Rs, adopted in 1980 (hereinafter, "the 1980 CC&Rs") included an amendment provision, reading:

The covenants and restrictions of this Declaration shall run with and bind the land, for a term of thirty (30) years from the date this Declaration is recorded, after which time they shall be automatically extended for successive periods of ten (10) years. This Declaration may be amended during the first thirty (30) year period by an instrument signed by not less than ninety percent (90%) of the Lot Owners, and thereafter by an instrument signed by not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the Lot Owners. Any amendment must be recorded in the office of the Ada County Recorder.

**R. 131.** Thus, Adams bought his property subject to the Amendment Provision and with the possibility that the CC&Rs could be amended. *Shawver*, *supra*, 140 Idaho at 365. *See also* **SJ Transcript**, p. 41, Ll. 18-21.

In 2007, the CC&Rs were amended (hereinafter, "the 2007 CC&Rs"). <u>See</u> **R. 134** et seq. One of the provisions changed in the 2007 CC&Rs was the amendment provision, which was revised to allow future amendments by an approval of only 66-2/3 % of the Lot Owners. **R. 149.** Appellant was one of the lot owners that approved the amendment. **R. 159.** Thus, Adams waived any objection to the change in the amendment process.

The 1980 CC&Rs included restrictions and regulations on the use, maintenance, and appearance of property within the development. <u>See</u> R. 119-122, 130-131. Among other restrictions, the 1980 CC&Rs restricted the use of property:

Each lot shall be used for single family residential purposes only, on an ownership, rental or lease basis; and for the common social, recreational or other reasonable uses normally incident to such use, and also for such additional uses or purposes as are from time to time determined appropriate by the Board. ...

**R.** 119. In 2013, the forgoing provision was amended to restrict the short-term rental of properties, to-wit:

Each Lot shall be used for single family residential purposes only. on an ownership basis; and for the common social, recreational or other reasonable uses normally incident to such use, and also for such additional uses or purposes as are from time to time determined appropriate by the Board[.] Each Lot may be rented to others for single family residential purposes or otherwise used in a fashion that in substance amounts to a rental of a Lot ... only in strict accordance with the following: (a) A written document shall be executed between the Lot Owner and the person(s) occupying the Lot authorizing such Rental Activity (the "Lease"); (b) the form of the Lease shall have been reviewed and approved in advance in writing by the Board; (c) any advertising by an Owner soliciting tenants to enter into a Lease shall be subject to written approval in advance by the Board; (d) the Board shall not give approval to any Lease with a duration or term of less than six (6) months; (e) no Lease shall allow for subleasing; (f) the Owner of the Lot upon which Rental Activity is being conducted shall provide and regularly update contact information to the Board; and (g) the Board shall have the authority in its sole and unfettered discretion (i) to grant, on a case-by-case basis for reasons of hardship or for such other reasons as the Board may deem compelling, a written variance from the requirements of this Article 3.1.(a) with respect to Rental Activity or Lease of a particular Lot; or (ii) to adopt, repeal, amend, enact and enforce as Bylaws or "House Rules" in accordance with Article 3.1(k) such other and further rules and regulations as the Board in its sole and unfettered discretion may deem necessary to regulate Rental Activity for the common good of all of the Owners. Any Lease that does not conform with the foregoing requirements is subject to being rendered null and void at the written election of the Board and the Board is empowered to take any other action it deems reasonable and necessary to enforce these restrictions on Rental Activity, including without limitation, seeking injunctive relief in court.

**R. 235-36**. The evidence showed that the Amendment was passed with the approval of the requisite number of Lot Owners, and Appellant does not argue otherwise. Accordingly, the District Court correctly held that Appellant's property was subject to the 2013 Amendment.

### 4. The Plain Meaning of Amendment Includes Making Changes.

Appellant argues that the plain meaning of "amend" does not include "change". This is incorrect and not even supported by the cases cited by Appellant. The District Court recognized Appellant's argument for what it was—an irrelevant distraction. The District Court held:

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